

# Public Health Association of Australia submission on the National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) Costs – Issues Paper

#### **Contact for recipient:**

**Productivity Commission** 

**E:** ndis.costs@pc.gov.au **T:** (02) 62403250

#### **Contact for PHAA:**

Michael Moore – Chief Executive Officer A: 20 Napier Close, Deakin ACT 2600 E: phaa@phaa.net.au T: (02) 6285 2373 24 March 2017

## **Contents**

Introduction3	
The Public Health Association of Australia	3
Vision for a healthy population	3
Mission for the Public Health Association of Australia	3
Priorities for 2017 and beyond	3
Preamble4	
Health Equity	4
Social Determinants of Health	4
PHAA comments on NDIS costs – Issues paper5	
Cost pressures	5
Why is there a mismatch between benchmark package costs and actual package costs	5
Early childhood early intervention approach	5
Is the ECEI approach an effective way to ensure that those children with the highest need enter into the NDIS, while still providing appropriate information and referral services to families with children who have lesser needs?	_
Intersection with mainstream services:	
Is the current split between the services agreed to be provided by the NDIS and those provided by mainstream services efficient and sufficiently clear? If not, how can arrangements be improved?	
Is there any evidence of cost-shifting, duplication of services or service gaps between the NDIS and mainstream services or scope creep in relation to services provided within the NDIS? If so, how should these be resolved?	
How has the interface between the NDIS and mainstream services been working? Can the way the NDIS interacts with mainstream services be improved?	6
Intersection with mainstream mental health services	9
How will the full rollout of the NDIS affect how mental health services are provided, both for those who qualify for support under the scheme and those who do not?	9
What, if anything, needs to be done to ensure the intersection between the NDIS and mental health services outside the scheme remains effective?	9
Conclusion	
References	

## Introduction

#### The Public Health Association of Australia

The Public Health Association of Australia Incorporated (PHAA) is recognised as the principal non-government organisation for public health in Australia and works to promote the health and well-being of all Australians. The Association seeks better population health outcomes based on prevention, the social determinants of health and equity principles. PHAA is a national organisation comprising around 1900 individual members and representing over 40 professional groups.

The PHAA has Branches in every State and Territory and a wide range of Special Interest Groups. The Branches work with the National Office in providing policy advice, in organising seminars and public events and in mentoring public health professionals. This work is based on the agreed policies of the PHAA. Our Special Interest Groups provide specific expertise, peer review and professionalism in assisting the National Organisation to respond to issues and challenges as well as a close involvement in the development of policies. In addition to these groups the Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health (ANZJPH) draws on individuals from within PHAA who provide editorial advice, and review and edit the Journal.

In recent years PHAA has further developed its role in advocacy to achieve the best possible health outcomes for the community, both through working with all levels of Government and agencies, and promoting key policies and advocacy goals through the media, public events and other means.

#### Vision for a healthy population

The PHAA has a vision for a healthy region, a healthy nation, healthy people: living in an equitable society underpinned by a well-functioning ecosystem and healthy environment, improving and promoting health for all.

#### Mission for the Public Health Association of Australia

As the leading national peak body for public health representation and advocacy, to drive better health outcomes through increased knowledge, better access and equity, evidence informed policy and effective population-based practice in public health.

#### Priorities for 2017 and beyond

Key roles of the organisation include capacity building, advocacy and the development of policy. Core to our work is an evidence base drawn from a wide range of members working in public health practice, research, administration and related fields who volunteer their time to inform policy, support advocacy and assist in capacity building within the sector. The aims of the PHAA include a commitment to:

- Advancing a caring, generous and equitable Australian society with particular respect for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders as the first peoples of the nation;
- Promote and strengthen public health research, knowledge, training and practice;
- Promote a healthy and ecologically sustaining human society across Australia, including tackling global warming, environmental change and a sustainable population;
- Promote universally accessible people centered and health promoting primary health care and hospital services that are complemented by health and community workforce training and development;
- Promote universal health literacy as part of comprehensive health care;
- Support health promoting settings, including the home, as the norm;
- Assist other countries in our region to protect the health of their populations, and to advocate for trade
  policies that enable them to do so;
- Promote the PHAA as a vibrant living model of its vision and aims.

### **Preamble**

PHAA welcomes the opportunity to provide input to the Productivity Commission's consultation on the National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) costs issues paper. The reduction of social and health inequities should be an over-arching goal of national policy and recognised as a key measure of our progress as a society. The Australian Government, in collaboration with the States/Territories, should outline a comprehensive national cross-government framework on reducing health inequities. All public health activities and related government policy should be directed towards reducing social and health inequity nationally and, where possible, internationally.

#### **Health Equity**

As outlined in the Public Health Association of Australia's objectives:

Health is a human right, a vital resource for everyday life, and a key factor in sustainability. Health equity and inequity do not exist in isolation from the conditions of society that underpin people's health. The health status of all people is impacted by the social, political, and environmental and economic determinants of health. Specific focus on these determinants is necessary to reduce the unfair and unjust effects of conditions of living that cause poor health and disease.

#### The PHAA notes that:

- Health inequity differs from health inequality. A health inequality arises when two or more groups are compared on some aspect of health and found to differ. Whether this inequality (disparity) is inequitable, however, requires a judgement (based on a concept of social justice) that the inequality is unfair and/or unjust and/or avoidable. Inequity is a political concept while inequality refers to measurable differences between (or among, or within) groups. <sup>1</sup>
- Health inequity occurs as a result of unfair, unjust social treatment by governments, organisations and people, <sup>2</sup> resulting in macro politico-economic structures and policies that create living and working conditions that are harmful to health, distribute essential health and other public services unequally and unfairly, preventing some communities and people from participating fully in the cultural, social or community life of society.

#### Social Determinants of Health

The social determinants of health are the conditions in which people are born, grow, live, work and age, including the health system. These circumstances are shaped by the distribution of money, power and resources at global, national and local levels, which are themselves influenced by policy choices. The social determinants of health are mostly responsible for health inequities – the unfair and avoidable differences in health status seen within and between countries. This is particularly pertinent when considering issues such as disability policy.

The determinants of health inequities are largely outside the health system and relate to the inequitable distribution of social, economic and cultural resources and opportunities. Health inequities are the result of the interaction of a range of factors including: macro politico-economic structures and policy; living and working conditions; cultural, social and community influences; and individual lifestyle factors.

## PHAA comments on NDIS costs – Issues paper

#### **Cost pressures**

#### Why is there a mismatch between benchmark package costs and actual package costs

The provision of services to support people with disabilities covers two different levels of complexity - the health condition and the social determinants of health. Firstly, within the disability itself and the myriad number and type of conditions which can lead to limitations on daily activities and participation in work and education. Disabilities are usually not experienced in isolation from other health issues. Australians with a disability are more likely than others to also have mental health issues, preventable chronic conditions such as diabetes, to be smokers, and to be overweight or obese. <sup>3</sup> Secondly, within the sociodemographic circumstances of the individual requiring support. NDIS packages are packages because the provision of services to support these individuals requires multiple service types, in packages tailored to suit individual circumstances and needs. These will be affected by factors such as age, sex, cultural background, education, employment, location, availability of services, waiting times, and individual choice.

With this dual complexity, a mismatch between pre-determined packages and actual packages is unsurprising. This may be interpreted as an indication of an area in which the NDIS is working well – recognising individual needs and tailoring packages of care accordingly.

#### Early childhood early intervention approach

Is the ECEI approach an effective way to ensure that those children with the highest need enter into the NDIS, while still providing appropriate information and referral services to families with children who have lesser needs?

With early intervention proven to be successful in reducing the need for long-term support and improving the health and wellbeing of people with disabilities, the PHAA is concerned to ensure that the ECEI approach is used to facilitate early intervention services rather than to reduce the numbers of children participating in the NDIS. The issues paper notes that a higher than expected number of children participated in the NDIS trials. However, there is no clear evidence presented in the paper that these were inappropriate referrals of children not in need of support services for a disability.

The ECEI approach involves having an early childhood intervention service provider discuss the needs the child and identify appropriate supports and whether the supports should be provided through the NDIS or mainstream services. Such as approach has the potential to be an effective and efficient way to streamline the process of accessing support services. However, this will require that the early intervention service provider in the ECEI meeting is able to directly link the child and family to the appropriate support services, seamlessly liaising between the NDIS and mainstream services.

If the ECEI approach is not an interface between the systems, it may instead simply lengthen the time and energy spent in one system before having to begin the process again in the other. This would effectively decrease access to services overall, particularly for those for whom issues such as language, literacy and transport mean that equality of access to services generally is already difficult. The ECEI approach must assist in the navigation of the process for accessing services rather than adding another layer of complexity to it.

#### Intersection with mainstream services:1

Is the current split between the services agreed to be provided by the NDIS and those provided by mainstream services efficient and sufficiently clear? If not, how can arrangements be improved?

Is there any evidence of cost-shifting, duplication of services or service gaps between the NDIS and mainstream services or scope creep in relation to services provided within the NDIS? If so, how should these be resolved?

How has the interface between the NDIS and mainstream services been working? Can the way the NDIS interacts with mainstream services be improved?

#### Correctional settings - Implications of NDIS exclusions for people with a disability

In no other domain is the transition to the National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) more unclear than with respect to how it will interact with the criminal justice system for people with a disability in custodial settings. <sup>4</sup>The Council of Australian Government defines custodial settings to include any person who resides in prison, youth detention facilities, secure mental health or disability facilities. <sup>5</sup>Therefore, the challenges raised here are generalisable to all of these settings.

For people with a disability in custody, Paragraph 7.25(a) of the NDIS (Supports for Participants) Rules state that the NDIS will <u>not</u> be responsible for "the day-to-day care and support needs of a person in custody, including supervision, personal care and general supports". <sup>6</sup> This is problematic because increasing evidence from Australia and internationally indicates that the continuity of disability-specific services and day-to-day care through the criminal justice system experience is crucial for improving the health and justice outcomes for people with a disability in custody. <sup>4,7</sup> In other jurisdictions positive policy changes in custodial settings have achieved considerable success and cost-effectiveness, by shifting the model of social service and healthcare provision from a siloed, custodial-centric framework to complete throughcare case management, eliminating most of the traditional barriers to these services for people in custody. <sup>8</sup> Recently in Australia, this case management throughcare model has been asserted as fundamental to reduce inequity and improve the social, health and justice outcomes for people with cognitive disability in the criminal justice system. <sup>9,10</sup>

At times the principles to determine responsibility between NDIS and other services for this group are unclear and almost contradictory. For example, these principles state that the NDIS will provide "training for staff in custodial settings where this relates to an individual participant needs", however the NDIS will not be responsible for "assisting prison staff to understand individual clients' needs and human rights..." nor "...implementing practical disability training available to Corrections Officers and other criminal justice staff...". This lack of clarity will likely lead to ambiguity as to who is ultimately responsible for the disability-specific care for people with a disability in custody and promote a reactive service model, implemented only on a last resort, 'ad-hoc' basis. Additionally, the NDIS (Supports for Participants) rule 7.25(b) states that the NDIS will not be responsible for ensuring access to justice for people in custody. If neither State-based prison providers nor the NDIS assumes this responsibility, it cannot be considered anything but a direct contravention of the human rights obligations as outlined by the UNCRPD.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The PHAA gratefully acknowledges the contribution of Young, JT, Research Fellow, Melbourne School of Population and Global Health, The University of Melbourne, in drafting this section of the submission.

#### Why is the NDIS important for people with a disability in custody?

Nearly all forms of disability are overrepresented among people with criminal justice system involvement.

The overrepresentation of disability in the criminal justice system has been observed in juvenile detention, <sup>12,13</sup> pre-trial detention <sup>14,15</sup> and adult correctional facilities. <sup>16-19</sup> Furthermore, although physical disability is more prevalent among people in the criminal justice system, <sup>20</sup> it is likely just the 'tip of the iceberg'. Every expression of cognitive disability is substantially over-represented in the criminal justice system including developmental disabilities such as Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) <sup>21</sup> and foetal alcohol spectrum disorder; <sup>22,23</sup> cognitive impairment from acquired brain injury; <sup>24</sup> and intellectual disability. <sup>18</sup> Despite increasing efforts to develop diversionary sentencing and trial options to divert individuals with significant cognitive impairment away from prison into appropriate care, it is estimated that 1 in 10 prisoners in Australia has an intellectual disability. <sup>18</sup> Inclusion of psychiatric and cognitive impairment increases the proportion of people in the criminal justice system with disability substantially. <sup>25</sup>

# Current evidence suggests that people with a disability in custody may face substantial challenges in accessing the NDIS.

People with cognitive disability in the criminal justice often have multiple and complex needs. <sup>26</sup> These substantial needs include physical/cognitive disability and chronic physical health conditions, mental illness, and substance use; entrenched disadvantage, victimisation and trauma, social isolation, stigma and barriers to health and social service access. <sup>18, 27-29</sup> This interaction can lead to substantial difficulties in exercising choice and decision-making which are particularly important in individual support planning. <sup>30</sup> Effectively, this suggests that without an informal carer in place, most individuals with cognitive disability are unlikely to have the skills and/or adaptive capacity required to advocate for, and successfully initiate, the process of having their NDIS eligibility assessed. <sup>4</sup>

# Unless the NDIS includes eligibility for active in-reach to identify disability among people in custody, a substantial proportion will remain unidentified and therefore ineligible for NDIS support upon release.

Because of the way it is expressed, physical disability is often more overt and thus identifiable than cognitive disability. Accordingly, people with unidentified cognitive disability in the criminal justice system have often been referred to as the 'hidden' majority. There are also inconsistencies in the requirement for identification of cognitive disability. In practice, people with intellectual disability are more likely to meet eligibility requirements for disability-based support in custody, than persons with other cognitive disabilities (ie. those who may acquire a brain injury after the age of 18). <sup>26</sup> Although the majority of support requirements are the same or similar for people with intellectual disability and those with significant cognitive impairment from other causes, in many jurisdictions the applied definition of intellectual disability tends to prohibit eligibility for anyone who is deemed to have acquired significant cognitive impairment after the age of 18.

This is problematic because research has highlighted that a substantial proportion of individuals with cognitive/intellectual disability are not diagnosed prior to contact with the criminal justice system. <sup>31-33</sup> Compounding this issue, a recent report highlighted that there is "no consistent process to identify, assess or support this group of vulnerable prisoners" in some jurisdictions. <sup>p.7; 9</sup> Without an identification of cognitive disability, these individuals do not qualify for disability-specific services, either while in prison or after release to the community. Recent research has observed that approximately two out of three people with intellectual disability remain unidentified and unsupported upon release from custody. <sup>31</sup> Without a systematic and NDIS-integrated approach to the identification of intellectual/cognitive disability in the criminal justice system, a substantial proportion of vulnerable individuals will be precluded from assessment of their eligibility and thus it is likely their needs will remain unmet. These arbitrary distinctions

are exactly the issues that can be addressed by the NDIS eligibility requirements and the principles to determine responsibilities of the NDIS and other service systems.

# A lack of disability-service capacity and defined benchmarks for evaluation within correctional settings likely will increase public expenditure.

The NDIS exclusions for people with disability in correctional settings necessarily shift the responsibility of diagnosing cognitive disability to the correctional service providers. Recent research has highlighted the limited disability-specific training, education and service capacity among criminal justice service providers. Furthermore, in a criminal justice and prison health service setting, the focus is often on the risk of committing further crimes rather than service provision focused on disability-related functional impairments, social and/or economic participation; all of which are core principles of the NDIS Act. A survey of service providers from two jurisdictions has indicated that current service models are implementing an informal or 'ad hoc' approach to the identification of cognitive disability in correctional settings. The existing evidence suggests that considerable expenditure will be required to increase this disability service capacity placing increased budgetary stress on an already overburdened system. Therefore, it is unlikely that a criminal justice-led disability service model will achieve value for money without considerable in-reach and integration with the NDIS.

# Without the continuous provision of NDIS support and care during the transitional period, people released from custody are at increased risk of poor health and justice outcomes.

Upon release from the criminal justice system, individuals with cognitive disability must quickly adapt to a new physical, social and service environment with a host of new rules, priorities and barriers. If adequate support is not provided, significant impairments in social interaction, learning, adaptive functioning selfcare and communication often impedes understanding and adherence to the new sets of abstract rules. A recent report by the Victorian Ombudsman on the rehabilitation and reintegration of prisoners, specifically acknowledged that prisoners with cognitive/intellectual disability are particularly vulnerable. <sup>9</sup>

Successful navigation of, and interaction with, a complex service environment at a time of rapid change and stress, such as release from prison, is likely beyond the capacity of most individuals with cognitive disability without support. Any gaps in the support and care from the lack of integration between the criminal justice system and disability systems will likely magnify the disadvantage for this vulnerable population. Recently, substantial gaps in the continuity of disability-specific and health services during the transitional period from prison to the community have been observed. <sup>32</sup> These gaps increase the risk of poor health and justice outcomes for people with a disability. Without adequate, continuous support, cognitive disability can increase the risk of incarceration and return to custody, risky substance use behaviours such as injecting drug use and needle-sharing, and premature death from preventable causes. <sup>27,35</sup>

# NDIS exclusions for people with a disability in custody will lead to service gaps necessitating costly acute health service use, unidentified morbidity, delayed access to care and return to custody.

Incarceration necessitates considerable public expenditure estimated at over 4 billion dollars per annum; the daily cost per prisoner exceeds the average daily wage in Australia by a factor of 2. <sup>36,37</sup> As noted in the Issues paper, the average annualised NDIS package costs are estimated at \$36,049 which is approximately one-third of the annual cost per prisoner in custody. This suggests that delaying return to custody for people with a disability is a legitimate priority for reducing public expenditure.

Considerable evidence suggests that meeting the health and social service needs of people in the criminal justice system will decrease public expenditure both directly through acute health service use and return to custody; and indirectly through other costs such as unemployment and policing. <sup>38</sup> Research in Australia has established that health-related factors predict return to custody in ex-prisoners. <sup>39</sup> Growing evidence

suggests that policy reform aimed at increasing the integration of the NDIS for people with disability at every stage of the criminal justice system will have positive impact on both public expenditure and public safety.

#### Intersection with mainstream mental health services

How will the full rollout of the NDIS affect how mental health services are provided, both for those who qualify for support under the scheme and those who do not?

What, if anything, needs to be done to ensure the intersection between the NDIS and mental health services outside the scheme remains effective?

Mental health disability has a devastating effect on individuals and it should be a priority that there are no gaps in service provision during this process. People living with a mental disability are currently dependent on services and any gap in services may have adverse impacts. This will present a challenge for the implementation and transfer of services from the current models to the new funding models. Service providers will need to prepare for provision of care under the NDIS and this may challenge resources if they are redirected towards funding models rather than care delivery.

Services will face the challenge of structuring and delivering care. Current service delivery has worked under a recovery based approach. This has been supported by the National Mental Health Commission and state mental health commissions, and will need to be clarified with the provision of services under NDIS. The NDIS is funding people with a permanent psychological disability. Clarity will be needed to determine if the recovery based approach will be a part of this new NDIS service delivery and if, not where these types of services will be available if they are not available through the NDIS.

Funding for alternative mental health services will need to remain for people living with a mental disability who are not eligible for NDIS. This population will require ongoing access to mental health services and provision must be made to ensure that targeted and appropriate services remain available. NDIS funding should be independent of services that are provided for vulnerable populations such as Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders, Culturally and Linguistically Diverse, former defence personal, GBLTIQ, farmers, women affected by DV and people living in rural areas, fly in fly out workers and youth and adolescent services. Funding should also be independent from services providing alcohol and other drug support.

There should be national, state and local strategies implemented towards promotion and prevention of mental health to stem the increasing rates of mental health issues within Australia. These should be coordinated and be targeted at all populations across Australia.

The capacity of people with psychiatric disabilities to manage their own care options should be considered. It is recognised that some people with a psychiatric disability may lack insight into their condition or may lack the skills to negotiate their own care packages. Due to the nature of mental health conditions, they may also lack family members or friends who would be willing to act as substitute decision makers. Due to the episodic nature of mental illness, substitute decision makers may also need to be short term. These issues should be taken into account when considering access to psychiatric disability support services.

Clear and defined standards of care provision should be established so that service providers are able to provide optimum support for people living with a psychological disability. It is essential that these targets and standards address areas such as physical health care and mental health, work provision and support for meaningful activity, safety of accommodation and engaging isolated populations such as the homeless, people living with a psychological disability who are incarcerated and any other populations who have difficulty engaging with support services. This will also need to include people with cognitive issues that affect personality, behaviour and decision making.

In the area of psychiatric disability in particular, there needs to be a very close relationship between clinical mental health services, disability support services and other important services such as housing, in order to achieve stable mental health and stability in other life areas. Assessment of the NDIS services should thus consider 'social inclusion' outcomes for people with psychiatric disability (housing, employment, social support).

## **Conclusion**

PHAA supports the broad directions of ensuring that the NDIS is sustainable. However, we are keen to ensure equity of access to services and the elimination of gaps between the systems, in line with this submission. We are particularly keen that the following points are highlighted:

- Packages need to be tailored to suit the individual needs of clients, taking into account their health needs and circumstances;
- The ECEI approach must be an effective interface between NDIS and mainstream services;
- Particular care must be taken in regards to people with disability who are in the correctional system
- Eligibility criteria and alternative services must be clearly defined to ensure there are no gaps in the systems
- There needs to be clear coordination between clinical mental health services, disability support services and other important services such as housing.

The PHAA appreciates the opportunity to make this submission and the opportunity to contribute to ensuring the sustainability of the NDIS.

Please do not hesitate to contact me should you require additional information or have any queries in relation to this submission.

Michael Moore BA, Dip Ed, MPH Chief Executive Officer Public Health Association of Australia

24 March 2017

## References

- 1. Kawachi et al. (2002) 'A glossary for health inequalities'. Journal of Epidemiology and Community health. Vol. 56, pp. 647-652.
- 2. Whitehead, M. (1990) The Concepts and Principles of Equity and Health. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe.
- 3. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) 2016. Health status and risk factors of Australians with disability 2007-08 and 2011-12. Cat. No. DIS 65. Canberra: AIHW.
- 4. Soldatic K, van Toorn G, Dowse L, Muir K. Intellectual Disability and Complex Intersections: Marginalisation under the National Disability Insurance Scheme. Research and Practice in Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities. 2014;1(1):6-16
- 5. Council of Australian Governments. Principle to Determine the Responsibilities of the NDIS and Other Service Systems. Canberra: Council of Australian Governments, 2015
- 6. Australian Government. National Disability Insurance Scheme (Supports for Participants) Rules 2013. Canberra: Australian Government, 2013
- 7. Bradley KJCB. The Bradley Report: Lord Bradley's review of people with mental health problems or learning disabilities in the criminal justice system. London: Department of Health, 2009.
- 8. State Services Commission the Treasury and the Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet. Performance Improvement Framework: Formal Review of the Department of Corrections. Wellington: State Services Commission, the Treasury, and the Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet 2012.
- 9. Victoria Ombudsman. Investigation into the rehabilitation and reintegration of prisoners in Victoria: September 2015. Melbourne: Victoria Ombudsman, 2015
- 10. Abbott P, Magin P, Lujic S, Hu W. Supporting continuity of care between prison and the community for women in prison: a medical record review. Aust Health Rev. 2016
- 11. United Nations. Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities Geneva: United Nations, 2008
- 12. Zhang D, Barrett DE, Katsiyannis A, Yoon M. Juvenile offenders with and without disabilities: Risks and patterns of recidivism. Learning and Individual Differences. 2011;21(1):12-8.
- 13. Haysom L, Indig D, Moore E, Gaskin C. Intellectual disability in young people in custody in New South Wales, Australia prevalence and markers. J Intellect Disabil Res. 2014;58(11):1004-14.
- 14. Crocker AG, Côté G, Toupin J, St-Onge B. Rate and characteristics of men with an intellectual disability in pretrial detention. Journal of Intellectual and Developmental Disability. 2007;32(2):143-52
- 15. Ali A, Ghosh S, Strydom A, Hassiotis A. Prisoners with intellectual disabilities and detention status. Findings from a UK cross sectional study of prisons. Res Dev Disabil. 2016;53–54:189-97
- 16. Søndenaa E, Rasmussen K, Palmstierna T, Nøttestad J. The prevalence and nature of intellectual disability in Norwegian prisons. J Intellect Disabil Res. 2008;52(12):1129-37.
- 17. Hayes S, Shackell P, Mottram P, Lancaster R. The prevalence of intellectual disability in a major UK prison. Br J Learn Disab. 2007;35(3):162-7
- 18. Dias S, Ware RS, Kinner SA, Lennox NG. Co-occurring mental disorder and intellectual disability in a large sample of Australian prisoners. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 2013;47(10):938-44
- 19. Murphy GH, Gardner J, Freeman MJ. Screening Prisoners for Intellectual Disabilities in Three English Prisons. J Appl Res Intell Disab. 2015;Epub ahead of print:1-7.
- 20. AIHW. The health of Australia's prisoners 2015. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2015 Cat. no. PHE 207
- 21. King C, Murphy GH. A Systematic Review of People with Autism Spectrum Disorder and the Criminal Justice System. J Autism Dev Disord. 2014;44(11):2717-33.
- 22. Fast DK, Conry J. Fetal alcohol spectrum disorders and the criminal justice system. Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews. 2009;15(3):250-7
- 23. Popova S, Lange S, Bekmuradov D, Mihic A, Rehm J. Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder prevalence estimates in correctional systems: A systematic literature review. Can J Public Health. 2011;102(5):336-40
- 24. Williams WH, Mewse AJ, Tonks J, Mills S, Burgess CNW, Cordan G. Traumatic brain injury in a prison population: prevalence and risk for re-offending. Brain Inj. 2010;24(10):1184-8
- 25. Baldry E, Dowse L, Clarence M. People with intellectual and other cognitive disability in the criminal justice system. Sydney: University of New South Wales, 2012
- 26. Baldry E, Clarence M, Dowse L, Trollor J. Reducing Vulnerability to Harm in Adults With Cognitive Disabilities in the Australian Criminal Justice System. Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities. 2013;10(3):222-9.

#### PHAA submission on National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) costs – Issues Paper

- 27. Heslop P, Blair PS, Fleming P, Hoghton M, Marriott A, Russ L. The Confidential Inquiry into premature deaths of people with intellectual disabilities in the UK: a population-based study. The Lancet. 2014;383(9920):889-95
- 28. Tonge BJ, Einfeld SL. Psychopathology and intellectual disability: The Australian child to adult longitudinal study. International review of research in mental retardation. 2003;26:61-91.
- 29. Männynsalo L, Putkonen H, Lindberg N, Kotilainen I. Forensic psychiatric perspective on criminality associated with intellectual disability: a nationwide register-based study. J Intellect Disabil Res. 2009;53(3):279-88
- 30. Herps MA, Buntinx WHE, Schalock RL, van Breukelen GJP, Curfs LMG. Individual support plans of people with intellectual disabilities in residential services: content analysis of goals and resources in relation to client characteristics. J Intellect Disabil Res. 2015;60(3):254-62.
- 31. Young JT, Cumming C, van Dooren K, Lennox NG, Alati R, Spittal MJ, et al. Intellectual disability and patient activation after release from prison: a prospective cohort study. J Intellect Disabil Res. 2017:Epub ahead of print.
- 32. Young JT, van Dooren K, Claudio F, Cumming C, Lennox N. Transition from prison for people with intellectual disability: A qualitative study of service professionals. Trends & issues in crime and criminal justice. 2016;no. 528:1-12.
- 33. Holland T, Clare ICH, Mukhopadhyay T. Prevalence of 'criminal offending' by men and women with intellectual disability and the characteristics of 'offenders': implications for research and service development. J Intellect Disabil Res. 2002;46:6-20
- 34. Australian Government. National Disability Insurance Scheme Act 2013. Canberra: Austalian Government, 2013
- 35. Bhandari A, van Dooren K, Eastgate G, Lennox N, Kinner SA. Comparison of social circumstances, substance use and substance-related harm in soon-to-be-released prisoners with and without intellectual disability. J Intellect Disabil Res. 2015;59(6):571-9.
- 36. ABS. Average Weekly Earnings, Australia, May 2016. Canberra: 2016.
- 37. SCRGSP (Steering Committee for the Review of Government Service Provision). Report on Government Services 2014, vol. C, Justice. Canberra: Productivity Commission, 2014.
- 38. Kinner SA, Wang EA. The Case for Improving the Health of Ex-Prisoners. Am J Public Health. 2014;104(8):1352-5.
- 39. Thomas E, Spittal M, Taxman F, Kinner S. Health-related factors predict return to custody in a large cohort of ex-prisoners: new approaches to predicting re-incarceration. Health & Justice. 2015;3(1):10